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CURTIS BRIGGS, SBN 284190 
1211 Embarcadero, Suite #200 
Oakland, CA 94606 
Telephone:  888-806-1965 
www.briggslaw.us 
BriggsLawSF@gmail.com 
 
 

Attorney for Defendant 

 

 

 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA    
   
             Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
 
JEREMY JONATHAN WHITE, 

 Defendant  

CASE NO. SCD274477 
DA No. AEX741 
 
MOTION FOR PC 1001.36 MENTAL 
HEALTH DIVERSION; NOTICE OF 
MENTAL HEALTH DEFENSE AT TRIAL 
 
Date: March 18, 2024   

Time: 9 AM 

Hon. Daniel Goldstein 
    
 
 

  

 
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF 
SAN DIEGO, DISTRICT ATTORNEY FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, AND/OR 
HER REPRESENTATIVES: 
 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on the above date and time, or as soon thereafter as 

counsel may be heard or assigned out of the above-entitled court, the Defendant, pursuant to PC 

1001.36, will move to be placed on Mental Health Diversion in the above captioned case. 

 

 

http://www.briggslaw.us/
mailto:BriggsLawSF@gmail.com
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INTRODUCTION 

On January 9th, 2024, exactly three years after the Pacific Beach incident for which Mr. 

White is accused, the 4th District Court of Appeal issued a published opinion demonstrating Mr. 

White is deserving of Mental Health Diversion:  

“…the Legislature has made it abundantly clear that for persons with diagnosed 
disorders, mental health treatment provides the best strategy for breaking the 
cycle of criminal recidivism.  (Whitmill, supra, 86 Cal.App.5th at p. 1149 
[“stated purpose of this legislation is to keep people with mental disorders from 
entering and reentering the criminal justice system while protecting public 
safety”].)  Reducing crime makes our communities safer, to be sure, but 
successful treatment also improves our society in a myriad of other ways by 
helping those with mental disorders become more productive citizens, to the 
benefit of their families, their employers, and the community at large.” 
Sarmiento v. Superior Court of San Diego D082443 
 

The prosecution has been less than forthright with the grand jury, the public, or this court 

the true context of what was happening at Pacific Beach that day.  They gloss over the Capitol 

insurrection and the fact that people who invaded the Capitol on J6 attended the J9 Pacific Beach 

incident, including the son of one of Summer Stephan’s biggest supporters, Tony Kvaric.1 They 

never mention that some of the defendants in this case were victimized by J9 attendees only three 

days earlier in Los Angeles. They never told the court about the vicious J9 beatings from the 

Proud Boys and America Guard, the brandishing of knives and threats by supposed victims, the 

extremist and violent backgrounds of many of the alleged victims. They never told the court or 

grand jury that when Chad Alvarez threw the grenade in Mr. White’s direction that he was 

lamenting on his social media that he used his last BB grenade the previous week. Nor did they 

mention that police wanted to prosecute Alvarez, but this prosecution team blocked it.  

 
1 Kvaric role as the leader of the San Diego GOP and his support for Summer Stephan were 
discussed at length in the Motion to Disqualify. 
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The truth is Mr.  White and other counter-protestors were in imminent danger on January 

9th, 2021, and it is also true that some on both sides were out of control and dangerous. It is also 

true that police took no actions against Proud Boys or American Guard members, increasing the 

need for persons dressed in black to defend themselves and others. Given the chaos, confusion, 

and lack of order, the need for self-defense and defense of others were necessary. No one knew 

that better than Mr. White due to his documented trauma at the hands of police and right-wing 

protestors at other events. See EXHIBITS A-D, settlement with Torrance PD, medical records, 

and witness statements from the 2020 beating of Mr. White by police. 

“In my professional opinion, the ‘suit of armor,’ Mr. White's carrying bear spray, 
as well as Mr. White's role of protecting others as a medic was a manifestation of 
Mr. White's PTSD. He fully expected to be re-traumatized and to see others re-
traumatized, even if his goal was to demonstrate peacefully. This suit, helmet and 
breathing apparatus were expressions of Mr. White's fear of being violently 
attacked, as he had been in the past. He was re-experiencing trauma, even before 
any violence occurred. Mr. White hoped that the suit and the bear spray would 
protect him from the trauma that he feared, expected, and re-experienced, all due 
to his condition of PTSD. Further, as a result of his PTSD, he expected others to 
be attacked or even shot. For that reason, his helmet includes a sticker on the back 
that states, “If the shooting starts, stand behind me.” Mr. White's self-appointed 
mission to protect others was the result of his PTSD. 

Because of Mr. White's condition of PTSD, he was unable to distinguish between 
the current circumstances that led to his arrest, and prior episodes of violence that 
were associated with the genesis of his PTSD. He reacted based on PTSD re-
experiencing and was unable, due to his mental illness, to distinguish between the 
actual events on the day of this arrest and past events. PTSD fully accounts for 
Mr. White's alleged criminal behavior.” 
See EXHIBIT E, report of Dr. Martin Williams. 

The prosecution presented to the grand jury 105 overt acts supporting the conspiracy 

charge. Ninety-four acts do not apply to Mr. White. See EXHIBIT F. The acts described 

pertain to his meeting up with alleged co-conspirators, wearing of protective clothing and 

possessing and using pepper spray, chanting “All Cops are Bastards,” his pointing at alleged 

victim R.L., his alleged participation in ‘surrounding’ alleged victims, and refusing to disperse. 

Mr. White’s choice to wear protective clothing is so central to the prosecution’s theory of the 

case that, after 
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seizing the items from Mr. White, they reassembled the items onto a mannequin and presented 

Mr. White’s protective attire to the grand jury.  

In addition to the recent Sarmiento case out of this jurisdiction pertaining to mental health 

diversion, the court should consider the impact of imprisonment on Mr. White.  Dr. Martin 

Williams states, “I consider any imprisonment to be life threatening to this man with a history of 

childhood abuse, adult PTSD, domestic abuse and serious depression. Should a sentence be 

necessary, I recommend that it involve alternatives to incarceration.” See EXHIBIT E. 

COMPLAINT 

Mr. White is charged via Indictment which includes eleven (11) defendants (counting Mr. 

White) and alleges twenty-nine various counts against the aforementioned defendants.  Of those 

twenty-nine alleged counts, Mr. White is named in only two counts, more specifically:  

Count 1- On or about January 9, 2021, Mr. White did unlawfully conspire together and 

with another person and persons whose identity is unknown to commit the crime of Penal Code 

Section 404 (Riot), in violation of Penal Code Section 182(a)(1) 

Count 22-  On or about January 9, 2021, Mr. White did unlawfully commit an assault 

upon R.L. by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury, in violation of Penal Code 

Section 245(a)(4) 

LAW AND ARGUMENT 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities 

INTRODUCTION 

Mr. White suffers from two serious mental health conditions, specifically (1) 

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and (2) Persistent Depressive Disorder, with anxious 

distress, with intermittent major depressive episodes. [Dr. Martin Williams, Ph.D,, Psychological 

evaluation report of Jeremy White, dated February 12, 2024, (hereinafter “Williams Report”) 

page 7 and 1.  [EXHIBIT E].   
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As relevant to the instant motion, Mr. White suffered from PTSD at the time of the 

commission of the alleged instant offenses and Mr. White’s mental health disorder of PTSD 

“significantly contributed and, in fact, fully accounts for [his] role in the charged offense[s]” 

[Williams Report, page 11].  Additionally, “Mr. White is not at risk to commit a super strike 

offense, or any unlawful act should his condition of PTSD be effectively treated and stabilized.  

Such treatment will prevent a recurrence of the charged crimes.  With resolution of his PTSD, Mr. 

White would be able to approach a peaceful demonstration without the expectation of violence 

occurring and without taking actions, whether intentional or inadvertent, to precipitate violence.” 

Ibid.  

“Relying on advances in psychology and neuroscience, the Legislature has made it 

abundantly clear that for defendants whose criminal behavior is a function of their diagnosed 

mental health disorders, treatment is the much-preferred option so that diversion should “apply as 

broadly as possible.” People v. Whitmill, (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th 1138, 1149.  “Mental health 

treatment provides the best strategy for breaking the cycle of criminal recidivism.” Ibid   

“Reducing crime makes our communities safer, to be sure, but successful treatment also 

improves our society in a myriad of other ways by helping those with mental disorders become 

more productive citizens, to the benefit of their families, their employers, and the community at 

large.” Sarmiento v. Superior Court (2024), 98 Cal.App.5th 882; 317 Cal.Rptr.3d 112. 

As the Sarmiento court recognized and framed the issue, “a defendant like [White] 

…plainly never asked for the psychological conditions that challenges him, the question is not 

whether White “deserves” the opportunity for treatment.  The Legislature has determined that in 

most cases, the community will be safer if defendants like [White] receive mental health 

treatment so that they will pose fewer risks to the community both now and in the future.  The 

[question is] whether a narrow range of factors warrant making this specific case an exception.” 

Ibid.  Here, no narrow exception applies, and Mr. White should be granted diversion. 

I. The mental health diversion program is to be applied as broadly as
possible.

The Legislature intended the mental health diversion program to apply as broadly as 

possible.  People v. Whitmill (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th, 1138, 1149.  Nowhere is this more clearly 
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stated than in the recent San Diego case of  Sarmiento v. Superior Court (2024), 98 Cal.App.5th 

882; 317 Cal.Rptr.3d 112.2 

Sarmiento v. Superior Court (2024), 98 Cal.App.5th 882; 317 Cal.Rptr.3d 112. 

Just this year, the 4th District Court of Appeal in Sarmiento, reversed the San Diego trial 

court’s determination that the defendant was ineligible for mental health diversion after she was 

charged with attempted robbery.  More specifically, the court held that (1) there was insufficient 

evidence to support trial court’s conclusion that defendant’s symptoms would not respond to 

treatment for purposes of her request; and (2) there was no substantial evidence to support a 

conclusion that defendant would commit a new violent super strike so as to warrant denying her 

request for pre-trial mental health diversion. Sarmiento, supra at 112 

In Sarmiento, the defendant requested mental health diversion (Penal Code §1001.36) 

after she was charged with attempted robbery arising from an incident which she handed a liquor 

store clerk a note written in lipstick on a napkin saying, “Let me get the money.” The store 

employees did not give her any money.  Instead, they called 911.  According to one of the 

employees, “[I]t looked like she wanted us to call the police.” Id. at 115.  

“An unrebutted psychiatric evaluation submitted in support of Sarmiento’s request for 

diversion diagnosed her as suffering from posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), major depressive 

disorder, and stimulant use disorder specific to methamphetamine.  The parties agreed that 

Sarmiento never received treatment for her foundational mental heath diagnoses of PTSD and 

depression….[and] the failure to address the foundational mental health issues ultimately led to 

relapse and a resumption of criminal behavior.” Ibid   

“Although it found that Sarmiento met many of the requirements for diversion, the trial 

court denied her request based on two principal concerns.  First and primarily, it found that “her 

inability to remain drug-free after prior participation in [substance abuse] treatment” indicated 

“she would not respond well to mental health treatment,” which accordingly would not “meet 

[her] specialized mental health treatment needs.” Second, although the court did not find that 

Sarmiento was likely to commit a super strike offense as required by the statute’s definition of 

2 Based on the recency of this case publication (January 9, 2024) the only page cite references, at 
the time of drafting this motion, existing were to the California Reporter.  Therefore, for this case 
only, the citations refer to the California Reporter.  
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dangerousness, it nonetheless concluded that Sarmiento “pose[d] and unreasonable risk of danger 

to the public,” and this was an additional factor in the court’s decision to deny diversion.” Ibid  

 In reversing the trial court’s denial of diversion, the appellate court held that “[b]y its 

terms, section 1001.36 was designed to encourage trial courts to broadly authorize pretrial mental 

health diversion, providing treatment for qualifying mental disorders that result in criminal 

behavior. … [and] applying these principles, neither of the reasons relied on by the trial court 

provide[d] a proper basis to deny diversion.” Ibid 

 “…[T]he undisputed evidence in this case indicates Sarmiento never received any 

coordinated treatment for her two primary mental health diagnoses-PTSD and major depressive 

disorder.  It appears the trial court failed to appreciate the distinction between different types of 

treatment, conflating substance abuse recovery with therapy and medication directed at PTSD and 

depression.  Even if her prior attempts at substance abuse treatment could be characterized as 

unsuccessful, Dr. Boyd’s report makes clear that Sarmiento was unable to maintain her sobriety 

because her underlying mental health conditions-the ones that drove her substance abuse as a 

means of self-medication-were never addressed.  Id. at 120  Moreover, “the court’s concern with 

Sarmiento’s lack of success in past attempts at substance abuse treatment does not support a 

finding that the recommended treatment would not meet her specialized needs.” Id. at 121. 

 Here, the similarities between Mr. White and Ms. Sarmiento are stark.  Mr. White and Ms. 

Sarmiento suffer from near identical mental diagnosis, i.e. PTSD and Persistent Depressive 

Disorder, with  anxious distress, with intermittent major depressive episodes.  Equally important, 

neither Mr. White nor Ms. Sarmiento received treatment to address such mental diagnoses.  

Moreover, both Mr. White and Ms. Sarmiento’s mental condition accounted for their roles in their 

respective charged offenses.  Finally, both Mr. White and Ms. Sarmiento are/were amenable to 

treatment.  As such, the court must find that Mr. White is eligible for diversion, unless there is 

clear and convincing evidence to suggest that the diagnosed condition did not contribute to the 

commission of the offense. 

 

II.  Upon a showing of an applicable diagnosis, the Court shall find that 
the defendant’s mental disorder was a significant factor in the 
commission of the offense unless clear and convincing evidence exists 
proving it was not a motivating factor, casual factor or contributing 
factor to the defendant’s involvement in the alleged offense.   
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 On January 1, 2023, the mental health diversion Code was amended.  In the previous 

version of the statute, the defendant arguably had the burden of “satisfying” the court that his or 

her mental health condition “was a significant factor in the commission” of the offense.  The 

current version, however, has changed this.  Upon a showing of an applicable diagnosis, the Court 

must find that the diagnosed condition played a significant factor in the commission of the 

offense.  Any other finding can only be based on a clear and convincing evidence that the mental 

condition was not a motivating factor, causal factor, or contributing factor:  

  

 Penal Code 100.36 (b) (2) 

“…If the defendant has been diagnosed with a mental disorder, the court shall find that the 

defendant’s mental disorder was a significant factor in the commission of the offense unless 

there is clear and convincing evidence that it was not a motivating factor, causal factor, or 

contributing factor to the defendant’s involvement in the alleged offense. A court may 

consider any relevant and credible evidence, including, but not limited to, police reports, 

preliminary hearing transcripts, witness statements, statements by the defendant’s mental 

health treatment provider, medical records, records or reports by qualified medical experts, or 

evidence that the defendant displayed symptoms consistent with the relevant mental disorder 

at or near the time of the offense.” (Emphasis added.) 

 

 This change in language prima facie manifests a clear legislative intent, namely, to favor a 

finding of eligibility for Mental Health Diversion by removing burdens from the Defendant and 

placing them instead on the party arguing against such diversion.  It is notable as well that that 

burden can only be satisfied under the most stringent of standards, “clear and convincing 

evidence.” 

 

III.  Mr. White is both eligible and suitable for diversion pursuant to § 
1001.36.  As such, the Court should exercise its discretion consistent with 
the express statutory requirements and the underlying purposes of 
mental health diversion, as well as an understanding of the findings that 
prompted the Legislature to create the diversion program. 

 
 “A defendant’s eligibility no longer turn[s] on findings to the court’s ‘satisfaction.’  

Rather, defendants are generally eligible if they “have been diagnosed” with a recognized mental 
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disorder.” Sarmiento, supra, at 118.3  Thus, if the defendant makes a prima facie case that he 

meets all the qualifications to be considered for diversion, as White does here, the court 

presumptively must grant the request for diversion.  This presumption can only be overcome in 

limited situations and upon the court exercising its ‘residual discretion’.  To be sure, California 

Penal Code section 1001.36 (a)  provides: 

 

“…the court may, in its discretion, and after considering the positions of the defense and 
prosecution, grant pretrial diversion to a defendant pursuant to this section if the defendant 
satisfies the eligibility requirements for pretrial diversion set forth in subdivision (b) and the 
court determines that the defendant is suitable for that diversion under the factors set forth in 
subdivision (c).” 

 

The factors to be considered in exercising that discretion are enumerated in Penal Code 

§1001.36(c): 

  

(c) For any defendant who satisfies the eligibility requirements in subdivision (b), the 
court must consider whether the defendant is suitable for pretrial diversion. A defendant is 
suitable for pretrial diversion if all of the following criteria are met: 

 
(1) In the opinion of a qualified mental health expert, the defendant's symptoms of the 
mental disorder causing, contributing to, or motivating the criminal behavior would 
respond to mental health treatment. 
 
(2) The defendant consents to diversion and waives the defendant's right to a speedy trial, 
unless a defendant has been found to be an appropriate candidate for diversion in lieu of 
commitment pursuant to clause (iv) of subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of subdivision 
(a) of Section 1370 and, as a result of the defendant's mental incompetence, cannot 
consent to diversion or give a knowing and intelligent waiver of the defendant's right to a 
speedy trial. 
 
(3) The defendant agrees to comply with treatment as a condition of diversion, unless the 
defendant has been found to be an appropriate candidate for diversion in lieu of 
commitment for restoration of competency treatment pursuant to clause (iv) of 
subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 1370 and, as a result of 
the defendant's mental incompetence, cannot agree to comply with treatment. 
 
(4) The defendant will not pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety, as defined 
in Section 1170.18, if treated in the community. The court may consider the opinions of 
the district attorney, the defense, or a qualified mental health expert, and may consider the 

 
3 Additionally, section 1001.36(d) lists the offenses that are ineligible for diversion.  Mr. White’s 
offenses do not fit within the enumerated offenses.   
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defendant's treatment plan, the defendant's violence and criminal history, the current 
charged offense, and any other factors that the court deems appropriate. 

Here, Mr. White is both eligible and suitable.  “Mr. White has suffered from chronic 

depression for most of his life.  He reports two suicide attempts … that reportedly would have 

succeeded had Mr. White not been interrupted by friends.  He reports having experienced an 

unusually abusive childhood, domestic abuse in adult relationships and traumatic events including 

domestic violence, as well as an assault by members of the Torrance Police Department that led 

to permanent partial disability as well as a financial judgment in Mr. White’s favor.” [Williams 

Report, page 3]   

Domestic Abuse (familial) 

“Mr. White describes his father as abusive throughout his childhood.” [Williams Report, 

pages 3-4]  “Mr. White states the father attempted suicide when Mr. White was age 17.  He was 

hospitalized at a mental health facility and then in substance abuse rehab.” He recalls several 

instances of extreme domestic violence when he was a child.  When he was age six, Mr. White 

refused to go to bed.  As a result, his father grabbed his arm and threw him into a wall causing his 

arm to be dislocated and broken.  Mr. White’s father lied to hospital staff about the cause of 

injuries.  [Williams Report, pages 3-4]    

Mr. White recalls another event when he was around age 13.  He describes his father as a 

former football player and on one occasion when Mr. White was ‘mouthing off,’  his father threw 

a videocassette at him from across the room, hitting him in the face.  Mr. White was seriously 

injured, requiring admission into the ER.  His father once again lied to the ER staff about how the 

injury occurred.  Mr. White also recalls being whipped with electrical wires, belts, and a wire 

hanger.  He still has a visible scar on his eye from injuries sustained by his father. [Williams 

Report, pages 3-4]    

Mr. White’s mother was also physically abusive and disciplined Mr. White with a strap.  

He recalls at the age of 13, his mother backed him into a closet while beating him.  He states that 

years elapsed when he did not speak to his mother but has a good relationship with her now. 

[Williams Report, page 4] 
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Mental Health History 

Mr. White reports he was in psychotherapy in high school and has had sporadic 

psychotherapy since.  He states he has been depressed chronically and fears being 

institutionalized.  He states he had been prescribed Prozac after high school but used it “for only a 

week or two,” and stated he hated the medication.  He states the medication made him feel numb 

and not like himself.  He states it blunted the depression in a way “that didn’t feel healthy.”  Mr. 

White states he has had suicidal ideation since age 13.  He states he has not been in therapy for 

the past six months due to financial issues such as fallout from the writers’ strike.  [Williams 

Report, page 5] 

Trauma history leading to PTSD 

Mr. White has been an activist for Bernie Sanders, BLM, and other causes.  In May of 

2019, Mr. White was at a town hall in Torrance.  At some point the mayor ordered the police to 

clear the room.  Mr. White had exited the room but observed the police about to strike the mother 

of a crime victim.  Mr. White tried to intervene and was badly beaten by four or five officers.  Mr. 

White experienced a broken back from being hit with the baton.   Mr. White obtained a financial 

settlement due to the beating and permanent disability. [Williams Report, page 5-6] 

That beating led to PTSD flashbacks and a physical tic such that Mr. White’s head 

reportedly jerks while he is trying to fall asleep.  He also experiences screaming while falling 

asleep and as he wakes up.  The pain caused Mr. White to plan a suicide with helium inhalation.  

He had begun giving away his possessions and on the day, he was going to execute his suicide 

plan, his friends intervened. [Williams Report, page 6] 
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In 2020, during the George Floyd protests, Mr. White travelled around the country joining 

protests.  During these protests, he has witnessed people lose eyes and limbs.  A friend of his lost 

a finger during a demonstration.  These traumatic events caused Mr. White to create a “suit of 

armor” to protect himself; however, the suit made him more of a target.  [Williams Report, page 

6] On September 8, 2020, during aa protest, Mr. White was shoved up against the wall and once

again, Mr. White was beaten by the police.  [Williams Report, page 6]  At another rally in August

2020, police shot Mr. White from four feet away with a beanbag round.  In September 2020, Mr.

White had a grenade launcher pointed at his chest by police. [Williams Report, page 6]  Most

recently, and in response to the current allegations, Mr. White was awoken at around 4:30 a.m.

with about 30 police officers effectuating an arrest warrant. [Williams Report, page 6]

Dr. Williams opines that the aforementioned traumatic events have contributed to Mr. 

White’s PTSD, which manifested itself during the alleged incident in the current case.   

Mr. White states he built the ‘suit of armor’ about a year following the back injury 
caused by the Torrance police, which, in turn, was part of the cause of his PTSD.  
Mr. White then went to demonstrations as a medic.  His intention was self-defense, 
community defense and deterrence of violence.  He states he was there to protect 
others.  The suit was designed to protect Mr. White and included a helmet and 
breathing apparatus.   

In my professional opinion, the ‘suit or armor,” Mr. White’s carrying bear spray, 
as well as Mr. White’s role of protecting others as a medic was a manifestation  of 
Mr. White’s PTSD.  He fully expected to be re-traumatized and to see others re-
traumatized, even if his goal was to demonstrate peacefully.  This suit, helmet and 
breathing apparatus were expressions of Mr. Whites fear of being violently 
attacked, as he had been in the past.  He was re-experiencing trauma, even before 
any violence occurred.  Mr. White hoped that the suit and the bear spray would 
protect him from the trauma that he feared, expected, and re-experienced, all due 
to his condition of PTSD.  Further, as a result of his PTSD, he expected others to 
be attacked or even shot.  For that reason, his helmet includes a sticker on the back 
that states, “if the shooting starts, stand behind me.”  Mr. White’s self-appointed 
mission to protect others was the result of his PTSD. 

Yet, while Dr. Williams strongly opines that Mr. White’s behavior in the instant case is a 

function of his diagnosed mental health disorder, he equally believes that treatment is the much-

preferred option.   Dr. Williams outlines specific treatment that Mr. White should engage in 

offering a strong opinion that if followed, would have tremendous positive effect for Mr. White.  

More specifically, Dr. Williams states the following: 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
13 

DIVERSION MOTION 

Mr. White requires ongoing psychotherapy for PTSD and depression.  Such 
treatment will prevent a recurrence of the charged crimes.  With resolution of his 
PTSD, Mr. White would be able to approach a peaceful demonstration without the 
expectation of violence occurring and without taking actions, whether intentional 
or inadvertent, to precipitate violence.  Such psychotherapy should include such 
methods as EMDR or other methods approved by the Veterans Administration for 
treatment of PTSD.  In addition, Mr. White should consult with a psychiatrist (not 
only a primary care physician) and consider specific medication that has been 
found effective for PTSD> 

Dr. Williams summarized his findings as follows: 

Mr. White suffers from two serious mental health conditions as described above.  
Incarceration for him would be extremely dangerous to his wellbeing, as he has 
already made two suicide attempts and has limited coping skills that might enable 
another individual to adjust to imprisonment.  I consider any imprisonment to be 
life threatening to this man with a history of childhood abuse, adult PTSD, 
domestic abuse and serious depression.  Should a sentence be necessary, I 
recommend that it involve alternatives to incarceration. 

Thus, while the court may still exercise its discretion, “this “residual” discretion must still 

be exercised consistent with express statutory requirements and the underlying purposes of 

mental health diversion, as well as an understanding of the findings that prompted the Legislature 

to create the diversion program.”  Sarmiento, supra at 122.  “[W]hile it is clear a trial court retains 

“residual” discretion to deny diversion even if all the threshold requirements are met, … in the 

guise of exercising its “residual” discretion, a court is not permitted to redefine public safety in a 

manner inconsistent with the Legislature’s expressed intent. [the risk of danger is narrowly 

confined to the likelihood the defendant will commit a limited subset of violent felonies] Ibid, 

[citations] 

Here, Mr. White is both eligible and suitable for mental health diversion.  Furthermore, he 

has never been treated for his underlying PTSD diagnosis and if treated, it is opined that he will 

respond well.  Additionally, and equally important, Mr. White does not now, nor has he ever, 

posed an “unreasonable risk of danger to public safety” as that term is defined by the statute, i.e. 

“a risk of committing a super-strike.”    
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DIVERSION MOTION 

IV. Mr. White will respond well to treatment, and he does not pose an
unreasonable risk of danger to public safety, as defined by both statute
and case law.

Penal code section 1001.36 (c) (4) provides that a defendant is suitable for pretrial 

diversion if, along with other factors, “The defendant will not pose an unreasonable risk of danger 

to public safety, as defined in Section 1170.18, if treated in the community. The court may 

consider the opinions of the district attorney, the defense, or a qualified mental health expert, and 

may consider the defendant's treatment plan, the defendant's violence and criminal history, the 

current charged offense, and any other factors that the court deems appropriate.” 

The public risk here is not any public risk, but public risk as defined in statute, namely 

Penal Code section 1170.18.  This section defines “an unreasonable risk of public safety” as 

follows: 

(c) As used throughout this Code, unreasonable risk of danger to public safety means an
unreasonable risk that the petitioner will commit a new violent felony within the meaning
of clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667

That is, when determining whether a defendant is an unreasonable risk of danger to public 

safety, as would make him ineligible for mental health diversion, the “risk of danger” is narrowly 

confined to the likelihood the defendant will commit a limited subset of violent “super-strike” 

felonies. This understanding of the statute has been confirmed and solidified by Sarmiento, supra, 

at 123. 

Moreover, as stated in People v. Moine (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 440, 450 “Section 1001.36's 

reliance on the definition of dangerousness in section 1170.18, necessarily encompasses the list of 

super strike offenses found at section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv). By requiring an assessment 

of whether the defendant “will commit a new violent felony” within the meaning of section 667, 

subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv), a trial court necessarily must find the defendant is “likely to commit a 

super-strike offense.”  Thus, the risk of danger is narrowly confined to the likelihood the 

defendant will commit a limited subset of violent felonies.” Ibid, quoting Moine (2021) 62 

Cal.App.5th 440 at 450., emphasis added) In other words, in determining whether a defendant 

poses an unreasonable risk to public safety as contemplated in Section 1001.36, the list of “Super 

Strike” felonies is determinative, and explicitly so. 
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DIVERSION MOTION 

 Here, there is no reasonable interpretation of the charges, the circumstances or Mr. 

White’s history which would suggest any likelihood of Mr. White proposing a risk of danger as 

such risk is explicitly defined and understood in the applicable statute. 

CONCLUSION 

The facts of this case arise out of a manifest moment of mental health crisis.  That crisis is 

the result of mental health conditions recognized in DSM 5 and diagnosed by a qualified 

professional.  In short, this is the precise kind of case for which Penal Code section 1001.36 was 

enacted: a defendant suffering a mental health crisis which was a substantial cause of the 

circumstances leading to the charges, which crisis arose from an underlying condition that is best 

treated outside of the punitive criminal system and incarceration.   

Given this, Mr. White requests that he be found eligible for pre-trial Mental Health 

diversion pursuant to Penal Code section 1001.36. 

Dated:  February 20, 2024 

_________________________ 
Curtis Briggs, 

    Attorney for Defendant  
Jeremy White 
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DIVERSION MOTION 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

The undersigned declares: 

I am a citizen of the United States.  My business address is 1211 Embarcadero # 200, 

Oakland, CA 94606.  I am over the age of eighteen years and not a party to the within action. 

On the date set forth below, I caused a true copy of the within 

MOTION FOR MENTAL HEALTH DIVERSION AND EXHBITS 

to be served on the following parties: 

San Diego County District Attorney’s Office 
Hall of Justice 
330 W. Broadway 
San Diego, CA 92101 

Via Email at: 

 
  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this 

declaration is executed on February 20, 2024, at San Francisco, California. 

__________________ 

CURTIS L. BRIGGS  
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Morgan Ricketts (Bar No. 268892) 
RICKETTS LAW 
540 El Dorado Street #202 
Pasadena CA 91101 
T: (213) 995-3935. F: (213) 995-3963 
Email:  morgan@morganricketts.com 
Attorney for Plaintiffs Jeremy White and Eugene Pesikov 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 
LOS ANGELES – CENTRAL DISTRICT 

JEREMY WHITE, an individual, and 
EUGENE PESIKOV, an individual, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

CITY OF TORRANCE, a municipal 
entity; TORRANCE POLICE 
OFFICERS CHRISTOPHER 
ALLEN-YOUNG, OMAR 
ALONSO, KEITH CROFTON, 
BRIAN KAWAMOTO, ANDREW 
KISSINGER, RICKY LOPEZ, AND 
JASON SENA, all individuals sued 
in their individual capacities; and 
DOES 1-10, inclusive;  

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: 

COMPLAINT FOR 
1. EXCESSIVE FORCE IN

VIOLATION OF 4TH
AMENDMENT (42 U.S.C.
§ 1983)

2. UNREASONABLE SEIZURE
IN VIOLATION OF 4TH
AMENDMENT (42 U.S.C.
§ 1983)

3. MUNICIPAL LIABILITY
UNDER MONELL FOR § 1983

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Electronically FILED by Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles on 05/11/2021 03:50 PM Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer/Clerk of Court, by C. Monroe,Deputy Clerk

Assigned for all purposes to: Stanley Mosk Courthouse, Judicial Officer: Robert Broadbelt

21STCV17732
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Plaintiffs Jeremy White and Eugene Pesikov, having suffered injuries, now 

complain against the City of Torrance, Officers Christopher Allen-Young, Omar 

Alonso, Keith Crofton, Brian Kawamoto, Andrew Kissinger, Ricky Lopez, and 

Jason Sena of the City of Torrance Police Department, and ten unknown Doe 

Defendants employed by the City of Torrance Police Department. 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Jeremy White (“White”) at all relevant times to this

Complaint was a resident of Los Angeles County, California. 

2. Plaintiff Eugene Pesikov (“Pesikov”) at all times relevant to this

Complaint was a resident of Los Angeles County, California. 

3. Defendant City of Torrance (“Torrance”) is a municipal entity located

in the County of Los Angeles, California which operates a police department 

(Torrance Police Department or “the Department”). 

4. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Christopher Allen-Young (“Allen-Young” or 

“Young”) was a duly appointed and acting police officer or employee employed as 

such by the City of Torrance, California, and in undertaking the acts of which 

Plaintiffs complain, Allen-Young was acting within the course and scope of such 

employment and under the color of law.  Allen-Young is sued in his individual 

capacity. 

5. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Omar Alonso (“Alonso”) was a duly 

appointed and acting police officer or employee employed as such by the City of 

Torrance, California, and in undertaking the acts of which Plaintiffs complain, 

Alonso was acting within the course and scope of such employment and under the 

color of law.  Alonso is sued in his individual capacity. 
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6. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Keith Crofton (“Crofton”) was a duly 

appointed and acting police officer or employee employed as such by the City of 

Torrance, California, and in undertaking the acts of which Plaintiffs complain, 

Crofton was acting within the course and scope of such employment and under the 

color of law.  Crofton is sued in his individual capacity. 

7. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Brian Kawamoto (“Kawamoto”) was a duly 

appointed and acting police officer or employee employed as such by the City of 

Torrance, California, and in undertaking the acts of which Plaintiffs complain, 

Kawamoto was acting within the course and scope of such employment and under 

the color of law.  Kawamoto is sued in his individual capacity. 

8. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Andrew Kissinger (“Kissinger”) was a duly 

appointed and acting police officer or employee employed as such by the City of 

Torrance, California, and in undertaking the acts of which Plaintiffs complain, 

Kissinger was acting within the course and scope of such employment and under 

the color of law.  Kissinger is sued in his individual capacity. 

9. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Ricky Lopez (“Lopez”) was a duly appointed 

and acting police officer or employee employed as such by the City of Torrance, 

California, and in undertaking the acts of which Plaintiffs complain, Lopez was 

acting within the course and scope of such employment and under the color of law. 

Lopez is sued in his individual capacity. 

10. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and based thereon allege, that at

all times material herein, Defendant Jason Sena (“Sena”) was a duly appointed and 

acting police officer or employee employed as such by the City of Torrance, 
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California, and in undertaking the acts of which Plaintiffs complain, Sena was 

acting within the course and scope of such employment and under the color of law. 

Sena is sued in his individual capacity. 

11. The true identities of Defendant Does 1-10 (“Doe Defendants”)

remain unknown to Plaintiffs, but include other police officers employed by the 

City of Torrance who either directed the violations of Plaintiffs’ rights; were 

present at the scene and participated in the violations of Plaintiffs’ rights; were 

present at the scene and failed to intervene to stop the violations of Plaintiffs’ 

rights; or later ratified the violations of Plaintiffs’ rights.  These Doe Defendants 

either caused, directed, participated in, or later ratified the conduct of other 

defendants discussed herein.  These Doe Defendants were acting within the course 

and scope of their employment and under the color of law.  The Doe Defendants 

are sued in their individual capacities.  

12. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that at

all times mentioned herein, each Defendant was the agent or co-conspirator of the 

remaining Defendants, including Doe Defendants, and each other, and that in 

doing the acts alleged, each of the Defendants were acting within the course and 

scope of their agency, employment, partnership, conspiracy, or other authorized 

relationship with the other Defendants and with the permission and ratification of 

Defendants.  Whenever and wherever reference is made in this Complaint to any 

acts of Defendants, such allegations and references shall also be deemed to mean 

the acts of each Defendant acting individually, jointly or severally, including Doe 

Defendants.   

CONCURRENT JURISDICTION 

13. Plaintiffs are entitled to bring their Section 1983 claims in state court,

as state courts have concurrent jurisdiction over such claims pursuant to the 
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California Supreme Court’s in bank decision in Williams v. Horvath (1976) 16 Cal. 

3d 834. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

14. On May 14, 2019, Plaintiffs attended a City of Torrance council

meeting at the City of Torrance City Council chamber as part of a protest.  The 

purpose of the protest was to express disapproval of the City’s handling of the 

December 9, 2018 shooting of an unarmed black man, Christopher Deandre 

Mitchell by Torrance Police Officers Anthony Chavez and Matthew Concannon. 

15. During the protest, numerous individuals including Plaintiffs verbally

expressed opinions of Torrance and Torrance Police Officers, including 

disapproval. This disapproval, at various times and by various individuals, 

included curse words, insults, obscene gestures, and loud chants of “Say his name 

– Christopher DeAndre Mitchell.” At no time did any protesters use violence.  No

protesters were armed.

16. After individuals had exercised their First Amendment rights to

express disapproval of Torrance and its handling of the Mitchell case, the Torrance 

City Council ended the meeting before completing its business and ordered all 

members of the public to leave the City Council meeting chamber.   

17. After all members of the public had been ordered to leave, at least ten

and up to thirty Torrance Police Officers lined up in the City Council chamber; at 

least three were holding batons while facing protesters, but at least six or more 

were not holding batons while facing protesters. 

18. The City Council chamber is a large room with a raised platform with

a dais for City Council members to sit during meetings facing the public.  There is 

a podium facing the raised platform and dais for members of the public to use 

while addressing the Council.  There are a number of seats available for members 
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of the public to use.  The seats are arranged in rows facing the dais, with an aisle 

down the center from the entrance doors to the podium approximately 8’ wide.  On 

information and belief, the chairs are situated in twelve rows of ten chairs each, on 

both sides of the center aisle for a total of 240 chairs.  The chairs are secured to the 

floor such that they cannot be moved and are connected with each other, so that a 

person cannot pass between two chairs in a given row.  The chairs have seats on 

hinges that rest in a default position of being folded up, for easier passage through 

the row, but can be folded down to sit on. 

19. At some point while the protesters were beginning to leave, some

continuing to express opinions, Mayor Patrick J. Furey returned to the dais and 

used the microphone to tell protesters that they would be arrested if they did not 

leave, pursuant to Penal Code § 403.  At that point at least three officers took out 

their batons, but other officers next to them did not. 

20. Protesters continued to leave the chamber through the main door,

while continuing to express opinions about several subjects, including: (1) the 

shooting of Mitchell; (2) the investigation into the shooting of Mitchell; (3) the 

Council ordering all present to leave; and (4) the police officers acting in an 

intimidating fashion towards protesters.  

21. At the time of the events at issue in this lawsuit, the group of

protesters had largely or completely moved either out of the chamber altogether to 

the corridors outside, or towards the main door at the back of the chamber behind 

the last row of chairs.  The situation was under control, the City Council had 

already vacated the chamber, and there was no imminent threat of violence or other 

circumstance that would have required officers to complete the evacuation of the 

room in any particular timeframe. 

22. One protester, Sheila Bates, who is a slightly built woman (on

information and belief, approximately 5’3” and 105 pounds) was standing in a 
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group of people who were making their way towards the exit on the right side of 

the room (facing the exit).  On information and belief, Sheila was standing near the 

grieving mother of Christopher DeAndre Mitchell.  Within view of Kawamoto, she 

put up her hand towards another officer who was standing quite close to the 

grieving mother, and rushing her out of the room.  Bates scolded the officer, “Have 

some respect – she’s a grieving mom.  Fall back and have some damn respect.”  

Fifteen seconds later, Bates had turned left towards the exit in the last row of chairs 

and walked at least six chair lengths towards the exit.  She was neither the last 

person nor the slowest moving person in the group. She had moved more quickly 

than several others to get to where she was.  She did not appear to be doing or 

saying anything in particular, but had made faster progress towards the exit than 

others in the group. 

23. At that point Kawamoto entered the row of chairs where she was

standing, quickly approached Bates, and told her that it was “time to go” as he 

grabbed her and pulled her, and then aggressively pushed her with his baton 

multiple times until she lost her balance and fell backwards onto one of the chairs, 

at which point he continued to push her with his baton. During this interaction 

Kawamoto quickly pushed Bates backwards through the row a significant distance 

of at least three feet, and up to ten feet before she fell into a chair.  

24. At that point, another officer behind the row and standing directly

behind the chair into which Bates had fallen, joined in physically harassing Bates. 

This officer is believed to be Defendant Young. At least one other officer joined in 

aggressively harassing her at that point, and it appeared several were pushing, 

shoving, or grabbing her.  Very quickly, officers Knox, Scott, and Nelson threw 

her to the ground, and she could be heard screaming in distress underneath several 

officers.   
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25. Meanwhile, Kawamoto had turned his attention to Plaintiff Pesikov,

who was one of the nearest protesters to Sheila Bates when Kawamoto assaulted 

her. Seeing Kawamoto’s assault of Bates, Pesikov could see that Kawamoto was 

overreacting and that Bates was in immediate danger of being badly hurt by 

Kawamoto, who appeared ready to strike her with his baton. Pesikov put up his 

left, nondominant hand to deescalate the situation and prevent Kawamoto from 

using the baton on Bates. At that time, Pesikov was holding the strap of his water 

bottle, and the water bottle hung from it. He did not wield the water bottle as a 

weapon, nor did he reach his hand towards Kawamoto or between Kawamoto and 

Bates; he merely put up his hand high in the air, in a calm gesture meant to convey, 

“Take it easy.”  Kawamoto responded by using his baton to violently push 

Pesikov’s hand away.  If Pesikov’s water bottle hit Kawamoto at all, it was an 

incidental, unintentional contact and caused by Kawamoto’s own aggressive 

pushing, if it did happen at all. 

26. Leading up to that moment, Kissinger had used his baton to push a

female wearing a green hat.  On information and belief, Kissinger knew that people 

who attend protests wearing green hats are trained legal observers, not part of the 

protests per se, but merely there to observe and take notes.  The female in the green 

hat was quietly taking notes at the time Kissinger pushed her with his baton.  

About thirty seconds later, Kissinger used his baton to push a man who was 

standing quietly with his hands clasped while the man was standing about 10-15’ 

directly in front of the exit.  About a minute later, Kissinger used his baton to 

contact and push the breast area of a sixteen year old female protester who was 

approximately 3-5’ away from the threshold of the exit, and was moving towards 

the exit.   

27. Within seconds of that last contact by Kissinger, the commotion

between Kawamoto and Pesikov began behind Kissinger; Kissinger turned around 
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to his right, and assaulted Pesikov, pushing him to the ground and breaking 

Pesikov’s pinky finger in the process, because it was caught between the chairs 

during the takedown; then handcuffing and arresting Pesikov.  On information and 

belief, one or more other officers were involved in the takedown. 

28. At least one officer put Pesikov in a headlock and Kawamoto swung

his fist at Pesikov’s face.  Pesikov was not attacking any officer or otherwise 

threatening anyone at the time he was assaulted. 

29. At approximately the same time or moments before Pesikov was

being assaulted, on information and belief, White stepped one or two feet towards 

Pesikov.  At that point, another officer, believed to be Defendant Lopez, physically 

grabbed White and shook him until he tripped and fell, at which point another 

officer (believed to be Defendant Crofton) put him in a headlock, while Defendants 

Allen-Young, Alonso, Kissinger, Lopez, and Sena pulled him further into the 

room, hit him in the head, kneeled on his back and neck and legs, and handcuffed 

him.  White was screaming in protest and in pain, asking that the officers get off 

his back, but he was not physically resisting at any point, and did not kick officers.  

These officers, which include Defendants Allen-Young, Alonso, Crofton, 

Kissinger, Lopez, Sena, and Doe Defendants 1-3 – although Plaintiffs are not yet 

clear on which officers did exactly what – broke a vertebrae in White’s back 

during all this.  After the seizure, White also had a number of contusions on his 

head and a cut on his ear from being struck, possibly with a baton, in addition to 

numerous bruises on his body and a cut on his arm.  White was in so much pain 

from the blows to his head that he did not immediately realize that he had a broken 

vertebrae.  Defendant Allen-Young claimed an injury to his shins thereafter from 

Plaintiff White allegedly kicking him multiple times; however, since Plaintiff 

White never kicked anyone, Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Defendant 
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Allen-Young instead hurt himself jumping on White, or at some point while 

kneeling on him using body weight. 

30. White, Eugene, Bates, and a fourth person who had also remained

calm and nonviolent throughout the demonstration were arrested, transported to the 

police station and booked.  No charges were filed against Plaintiffs or Bates. On 

information and belief, no charges were filed against the fourth demonstrator 

either. 

31. When Plaintiffs were released from custody, they went to Providence

Medical Center in Torrance, where White was diagnosed with “nondisplaced 

fracture of left L4 transverse process,” which on information and belief refers to a 

fracture of a vertebrae without it moving out of place, as well as nodules in his 

lungs that were caused by the trauma, and Pesikov was diagnosed with a 

“traumatic amputation” of his right fifth fingernail.  However, he was in so much 

pain from injuries to his thumb that he did not immediately perceive the injury to 

his little finger, and instead complained of pain to his thumb. 

32. Since this incident, White has suffered significant pain in his back, to

the point of losing wages and being unable to work and perform other daily life 

activities.  Pesikov’s little finger is still disfigured. 

33. On information and belief, Sergeant Ortega, Lieutenant Ghesquiere,

and acting Captain Jennifer Uyeda were present and failed to intervene and stop 

the force used on Plaintiffs. Sergeants Galassi and Ortega completed Use of Force 

reports later and did not recommend discipline.  

34. Torrance Police Department Policy 300.5 requires that a report be

created whenever there is a use of force. 

35. Torrance Police Department Policy 300.5.1 requires that supervisors

be notified whenever physical force is used to overcome resistance (in subsection 

f); when the force causes an injury (subsection i); when there is a visible injury 
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(subsection j); the application would lead a reasonable officer to conclude t hat the 

individual experienced more than momentary discomfort (subsection k); the 

individual subjected to force complained of injury or continuing pain (subsection 

l); the individual indicates intent to pursue litigation (subsection m); or an 

individual alleges that unreasonable force was used or any of the above occurred 

(subsection r).   

36. Torrance Police Department Policy 300.7 requires that supervisors

investigate the circumstances surrounding the use of force and complete an 

Administrative Review form.   

37. Torrance Police Department Policy 300.7.1 requires that the Division

Commander review each use of force. 

38. On information and belief, these policies were either in place as stated

here or substantially the same as stated here, on the date of the events in question, 

and were followed in this case. 

39. On information and belief, no officers responsible for the injuries and

arrests of Pesikov, White, or Bates were disciplined or counseled about another 

way to accomplish the legitimate law enforcement objectives that were at issue in 

this incident. 

40. On information and belief, Captain Uyeda reviewed all documentation

associated with this incident, and personally witnessed the conduct at issue, but 

took no action to discipline officers and instead praised and commended them. 

41. On information and belief, the Chief of Torrance Police or another

final policymaker for the Department was aware of or briefed on this incident, the 

arrests and force used, and agreed with and ratified the decision not to impose 

discipline on the officers. 

42. On information and belief, the Department engages in a custom and

practice of using aggressive, intimidating, coercive, forceful, and excessive tactics 
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to control peaceful protests within the City of Torrance, and routinely fails to 

control, discipline or terminate officers that violate the rights of members of the 

public. In addition, the Department ratified the conduct at issue in this complaint, 

being fully aware of the actions of officers and the basis for those actions, with 

respect to both the underlying acts taken by the officers and with respect to the 

decision not to discipline those officers, which was decided by Doe Defendants. 

CLAIMS 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
UNREASONABLE SEIZURE – EXCESSIVE FORCE 

IN VIOLATION OF U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV (42 U.S.C § 1983)  
(Against Defendants Allen-Young, Alonso, Crofton, Kawamoto, Kissinger, 

Lopez, Sena, and Does 1-4) 
43. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference herein each and every

allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 42. 
44. On May 14, 2019, Torrance Defendants Allen—Young, Alonso,

Crofton, Kawamoto, Kissinger, Lopez, Sena, and Doe Defendants 1-4 
unreasonably seized Plaintiffs and used constitutionally excessive force to effect 
the seizures.  

45. Plaintiff White experienced numerous injuries, including a fractured
vertebrae, which causes him pain to this day. On information and belief, the 
officers involved in causing his injuries through excessive force were Allen-
Young, Alonso, Crofton, Kissinger, Lopez, and Sena, and Does 1-3. 

46. Plaintiff Pesikov experienced numerous injuries, including a traumatic
amputation to his little fingernail, which remains disfigured to this day.  On 
information and belief, the officers involved in causing his injuries through 
excessive force were Kissinger, Kawamoto, and Doe Defendant 4. 
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47. The above-described actions of Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of their 
rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution to be free 
from unreasonable seizures which use excessive force.   

48. All actions herein complained of by Defendants were undertaken in 
the course and scope of their duties as duly sworn police officers employed by the 
City of Torrance, and at all times, Defendants were acting under color of law.  

49. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiffs are entitled to claim for 
damages for the deprivation of their rights under the United States Constitution.  
Defendants’ conduct caused Plaintiffs damages in an amount to be proven at trial.  
Plaintiffs experienced significant emotional distress as a result of Defendants’ 
actions.  Plaintiffs are entitled to compensation for the physical pain, medical 
expenses, emotional distress and Constitutional injuries they experienced as a 
result of Defendants’ conduct; costs and reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in 
prosecuting this claim for relief; and punitive damages, since the Defendants’ 
actions were malicious, willful, committed with the specific intent to deprive 
Plaintiffs of their rights, and/or in conscious disregard for Plaintiffs’ rights.   

 
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

UNREASONABLE SEIZURE – EXCESSIVE FORCE 
IN VIOLATION OF U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV (42 U.S.C § 1983)  

(Against Defendants Allen-Young, Alonso, Crofton, Kawamoto, Kissinger, 
Lopez, Sena, and Does 1-4) 

50. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference herein each and every 
allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 49. 

51. On May 14, 2019, Torrance Defendants Allen—Young, Alonso, 
Crofton, Kawamoto, Kissinger, Lopez, Sena, and Doe Defendants 1-4 
unreasonably seized Plaintiffs and arrested them without probable cause to believe 
they had committed a crime.  
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52. As a result of the unlawful arrest, Plaintiff White experienced
numerous injuries, including a fractured vertebrae, which causes him pain to this 
day, and was handcuffed and transported to jail, and had to pay bail to be released. 
On information and belief, the officers involved in causing his injuries through 
wrongful arrest were Allen-Young, Alonso, Crofton, Kissinger, Lopez, and Sena, 
and Does 1-3. 

53. Plaintiff Pesikov experienced numerous injuries, including a traumatic
amputation to his little fingernail, which remains disfigured to this day, and was 
handcuffed and transported to jail, and had to pay bail to be released.  On 
information and belief, the officers involved in causing his injuries through 
wrongful arrest were Kissinger, Kawamoto, Allen-Young, and Doe Defendant 4. 

54. The above-described actions of Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of their
rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution to be free 
from unreasonable seizures, including arrests without probable cause to believe 
that they had committed any crime.   

55. All actions herein complained of by Defendants were undertaken in
the course and scope of their duties as duly sworn police officers employed by the 
City of Torrance, and at all times, Defendants were acting under color of law.  

56. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiffs are entitled to claim for
damages for the deprivation of their rights under the United States Constitution.  
Defendants’ conduct caused Plaintiffs damages in an amount to be proven at trial.  
Plaintiffs experienced significant emotional distress as a result of Defendants’ 
actions.  Plaintiffs are entitled to compensation for the physical pain, medical 
expenses, emotional distress and Constitutional injuries they experienced as a 
result of Defendants’ conduct; costs and reasonable attorney’s fees incurred in 
prosecuting this claim for relief; and punitive damages, since the Defendants’ 
actions were malicious, willful, committed with the specific intent to deprive 
Plaintiffs of their rights, and/or in conscious disregard for Plaintiffs’ rights.   
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
MUNICIPAL LIABILITY 

(Against Defendant City of Torrance) 
57. Plaintiffs realleges and incorporates by reference herein each and

every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 56. 
58. Ahead of the City Council meeting on May 14, 2019, Doe Defendants

5-10 met and planned for the anticipated demonstration.  On information and
belief, the Chief of Police approved plans for how Torrance officers would respond
to demonstrators and failed to include any protection for free speech in the plans.
On information and belief, supervisors never considered what rights the
demonstrators had to safely be in the chamber, to verbally express disapproval of
the City Council and the Department, and to refuse to leave the chamber – and
only considered lesser concerns such as keeping order and control over the space.

59. On May 14, 2019, Defendants attacked Plaintiffs while they were
unarmed, standing peacefully, and in a public place – if anything, Plaintiffs were 
suspected of a misdemeanor and no more.  On information and belief, Sergeants, a 
Lieutenant and at least one acting Captain, in addition to the Chief of Police, knew 
about this event and the resulting arrests and force used, as well as the injuries 
caused.   

60. Despite actual knowledge of the events herein complained of and the
behavior of the individual Defendants named in this action, all supervisors up to 
and including the Chief of Police or another final policymaker for the City of 
Torrance not only failed to discipline the individual Defendants, but ratified and 
approved the problematic conduct of all individual Defendants, even going so far 
as to commend them for their performance, “professionalism,” and “restraint.” 

61. Defendant City of Torrance is liable as a municipality under Monell,
entitling Plaintiffs to damages and attorney’s fees as set forth above. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that this Court enter judgment in favor of 

Plaintiffs and against each Defendant on all counts, and for actual damages and all 
other damages that may be allowed under the Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to 
Plaintiffs; for punitive damages in the amount of $100,000 against each individual 
Defendant; for costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees; for pre- and post-judgment 
interest as permitted by law; injunctive relief; and such other and further relief as 
the Court may deem just and appropriate. 

DATED: May 11, 2021 
By: ____________________________________

Morgan Ricketts 
Attorney for Plaintiffs Jeremy White and 
Eugene Pesikov 



DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury. 

DATED: May 11, 2021 
By: ____________________________________

Morgan Ricketts 
Attorney for Plaintiffs Jeremy White and 
Eugene Pesikov 
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JEREMY WHITE, et.al. )
) Case No.: 20STCV19719

Plaintiff(s), )
vs. ) STIPULATION FOR SETTLEMENT

)
CITY OF TORRANCE, et.al., ) C.C.P. § 664.6

)
Defendant(s) )

)
___________________________________ )

This case having come before Richard T. Copeland, Esq. for a mediation, and the parties

having conferred, it is hereby stipulated that this  matter is deemed settled pursuant to the following 

terms and conditions:

1. In addition to the non-monetary considerations attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” the CITY OF

TORRANCE agrees to pay Plaintiff JEREMY WHITE the total sum of SEVENTY FIVE

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($75,000.00) and EUGENE PESIKOV the total sum of SEVENTY FIVE

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($75,000.00)

in full settlement and compromise of this action and in release and discharge of any and all claims and 

causes of action made in this action as against any and all defendants, and in release and discharge of 

any and all claims and causes of action arising out of the events or incidents referred to in the

pleadings in this action. This amount shall be inclusive of attorneys’ fees and costs.

2. Plaintiffs agree to accept the consideration set forth in Paragraph 1, above, as full settlement

and compromise of the action and agrees that such payment shall fully and forever discharge and 

release all claims and causes of action, whether now known or now unknown, inclusive of any claim or 

cause of action for attorney’s fees and costs, which plaintiffs have against any and all of the defendants

in that action arising out of the incident.

This settlement includes an express waiver of Civil Code § 1542, which states:

Doc ID: 4a12015b065ee70779286f37711210dd2ee90c9b
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"A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or releasing party does not know or 

suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her, 

would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or released party."

3. Plaintiffs further agree to sign, acknowledge and deliver to defendants a Long Form

Settlement Agreement and Release of all such claims and causes of action and to sign and deliver to 

defendants a Standard Form Dismissal with Prejudice of the action.  The parties agree that Exhibit “A”

to this Stipulation for Settlement shall become Exhibit “A” to the Long Form Settlement Agreement.

4. Plaintiffs shall protect and indemnify the defendants in said action against any and all liens

that may be asserted by any person against the amount paid in settlement of the action or against any 

recovery by the plaintiffs in the action. Plaintiff shall provide defendants with proof of a final lien 

letter from Medi-Cal and/or Medicare prior to payment of the settlement funds as set forth in paragraph 

1. Upon receipt of the final lien letter, Defendant City of Torrance shall pay the amount to satisfy the

lien directly to Medi-Cal and/or Medicare, with the balance of the amounts set fort in paragraph 1, 

above, after the satisfaction of the lien to be paid to Plaintiffs and their counsel.

5. The parties agree that nothing contained herein, and no action taken by any party hereto with

regard to this agreement, shall be construed as an admission by any party of liability or of any fact that

might give rise to liability for any purpose whatsoever.  

6. Counsel for each of the parties to this agreement represents that s/he has fully explained to

his/her client(s) the legal effect of this agreement and of the Release and Dismissal with Prejudice

provided for herein and that the settlement and compromise stated herein is final and conclusive

forthwith, and each attorney represents that his/her client(s) has freely consented to and authorized this

agreement.

7. Each party shall bear his/her/its own attorneys' fees and court costs.
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8. Any provisions of Evidence Code §§1115 - 1129 notwithstanding, this agreement may be

enforced by any party hereto by a motion under Code of Civil Procedure §664.6 or by any other 

procedure permitted by law. 

9. This Stipulation is admissible and subject to disclosure for purposes of enforcing this

settlement agreement pursuant to  Code of Civil Procedure §664.6, or any other procedure permitted 

by law, and the provisions of Evidence Code §§1115 – 1129 relative to this mediation are waived with 

respect to this Stipulation.  

10. This settlement shall be between Plaintiffs and the CITY OF TORRANCE only, with the

individual defendants to be dismissed with prejudice. Upon completion and finalization of the 

settlement, the entire case shall be dismissed with prejudice. 

11. This Stipulation for Settlement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of

which shall be deemed an original, and  all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same 

agreement.   

Date:  November 24, 2021 

____________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Morgan Ricketts, Esq., Counsel for Plaintiff  Jeremy White, Plaintiff 

____________________________________  
Eugene Pesikov, Plaintiff 

____________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Patrick Desmond, Esq., Counsel for Defendants For the City of Torrance 
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EXHIBIT A

1. By March 31, 2022, an agenda item will be placed on the agenda for the City of
Torrance’s Employee Relations and Public Safety Committee to consider moving
forward with a survey of Torrance residents regarding the implementation of a
citizen oversight commission to work with the Torrance Police
Department. A description of a type of a citizen oversight commission, to be
prepared by Plaintiffs’ counsel, shall be attached to the agenda. Said description
shall be submitted to defense counsel by Plaintiffs’ counsel on or before
December 15, 2021. In the event that the Employee Relations and Public Safety
Committee votes to move forward with the survey, Plaintiffs shall be permitted to
submit survey questions to be considered by whomever prepares the
survey. Said questions shall be submitted to defense counsel by Plaintiffs’
counsel by December 15, 2021. Defense counsel shall make plaintiffs’ counsel
aware of the date this item is placed on the agenda of the Employee Relations and
Public Safety Committee as well as the date it is scheduled to be heard by
the Employee Relations and Public Safety Committee. Defense counsel agrees to
further keep Plaintiff apprised of any additional dates relevant to the terms of
this settlement.

2. The Chief of Police for the City of Torrance shall implement a Chief’s Advisory
Panel, made up of 10 to 25 residents of Torrance, to meet with the Chief and
discuss matters of public concern as they relate to the Torrance Police
Department.

3. By December 31, 2022, Torrance Police Department Command Staff
Members will take the following course at the University of Southern California’s
Price School of Public Policy Safe Communities Institute: Extremists in Law
Enforcement: Understanding the Problem and Crafting Solutions.

4. The Torrance Police Department shall purchase and implement software that
tracks uses of force within the department, and patterns therewith, on a going
forward basis. The Torrance Police Department will make this data available on
its website on a going forward basis.
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MARTIN H. WILLIAMS, PH.D. 
WILLIAMS FORENSIC MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 

 

   

Psychological evaluation of Jeremy White 
Date of birth:  (current age 41) 

Case Number: SCD274477, Filed November 3, 2023 
Date of evaluation: January 31, 2024 

Date of report: February 12, 2024 

I, the undersigned Martin Williams, Ph.D., hereby declare that I have personal knowledge of the 
facts stated herein and that I am willing and able to competently testify to those facts in the court 
of law. A true copy of my curriculum vitae is attached hereto.  

Qualifications of Evaluator:   My qualifications to offer this opinion are as follows:  I am a 
1975 graduate of the University of California, Berkeley where I obtained my doctorate in 
psychology.  I previously had graduated Phi Beta Kappa and Summa Cum Laude from UCLA, 
with Highest Honors in Psychology, in 1968.  I have been a licensed psychologist in California 
since 1976 and have never been subject to any disciplinary proceeding.  I practiced as a clinical 
psychologist and manager at The Kaiser Permanente Medical Center in Santa Clara, California 
for 27 years, beginning in 1980.  At Kaiser, I treated a wide range of individuals, including those 
with “dual diagnoses”—individuals who suffered from a substance abuse diagnosis in addition to 
a primary psychiatric diagnosis.  I was chair of the Psychiatry Department Peer Review 
Committee at that medical center for 11 years.  For the final three years of my time at Kaiser, I 
managed the Intensive Outpatient Treatment Program (IOP), a day-treatment program for 
individuals with severe mental illness, including those with co-occurring substance abuse 
problems.  

Since 1993, I have maintained an independent practice in forensic psychology, carrying out 
evaluations of emotional damages and malingering in civil suits and providing standard-of-care 
testimony in psychology malpractice matters.  I have also carried out numerous evaluations of 
fitness for duty for various healthcare professionals and license holders practicing under a variety 
of professional boards in California, as well as for employees of a variety of companies that have 
retained me for that purpose.  I currently evaluate individuals who hold top-secret or sensitive 
compartmented information clearances under the auspices of the CIA, NSA and Department of 
Defense for fitness for duty. I have served as a Billing Monitor for the Board of Psychology and 
have served on the panel of experts for the Board of Registered Nursing and Board of Pharmacy.  
I am currently a member of the Panel of Evaluators for the Superior Court of California, carrying 
out evaluations of competency to stand trial and insanity defense in criminal defendants.  I was 
formerly a member of the Forensic Assessment Division, Board of Parole Hearings, California 
Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, where my duties included the psychological 
evaluation of life-term inmates regarding suitability for parole in terms of violence risk, 
including risk of sexual re-offense.  I am an evaluator for the Ohio Industrial Commission, 
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Workers Compensation and Disability claims. I have testified as an expert witness in Federal 
Court on behalf of the Indiana State Board of Law Examiners and have been retained by the 
Florida Board of Bar Examiners. 

I am a published expert in the field of psychotherapy ethics, having published numerous articles 
in peer reviewed, professional journals. 

In 2011, I became an Approved Psychological Competency Evaluator, United States 
Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Enforcement and Removal Operations, San Francisco 
Region. I have evaluated numerous United States citizens with regard to sexual deviancy as 
applicable to the Adam Walsh Act, as well as evaluations for those seeking I-601 Waivers, for 
individuals under the Violence Against Women Act, and for individuals seeking "U" visas as 
victims of crime. 

I am currently the psychological consultant to the Campbell Police Department Crisis/Hostage 
Negotiation Team and have served on the State Bar of California Lawyer Assistance Program, 
Evaluation Committee. In 2019, I led a weekly treatment group for lawyers in substance abuse 
recovery who are monitored by the State Bar of California Lawyer Assistance Program. I am 
currently serving on the State Bar of California Lawyer Assistance Program Oversight 
Committee.  

Circumstances of retention: I was contacted by Attorney Curtis Briggs and was asked to offer 
an opinion on Mr. White with regard to his current criminal charges. Specifically, I was asked to 
opine regarding the role played by any mental disorder in connection with the alleged crimes, 
whether any such disorder can be treated, whether, with treatment, Mr. White would pose a 
danger to the public, and whether Mr. White's mental health status and condition would qualify 
Mr. White for Pretrial Mental Health Diversion according to Penal Code Section 1001.36. To 
comply with this statute, and for the purposes of this assessment, I assumed that Mr. White was 
guilty of all of the charges of which he has been accused. 
.  
I agreed to provide this opinion subject to my usual conditions: My evaluation was to be 
objective. I was to be paid for my time, and my payment was not contingent on my reaching any 
particular conclusion. Thus, even if my findings proved to be unhelpful to Mr. Briggs’ client, my 
fee would be unchanged. These conditions were accepted, and the evaluation proceeded.  

This evaluation was conducted using a high-definition video conferencing connection, also 
known as Telehealth or Telemedicine. This method of psychological assessment has been widely 
used for many years, especially by public agencies in California, to conduct mental health 
assessments. Its results have been shown to be equivalent to those of in-person evaluations. Mr. 
White was interviewed for approximately two hours. 
Overview of criminal charges: Mr. White is charged with felony assault and felony conspiracy 
to riot based on events of January 9, 2021 when he attended a San Diego based political 
demonstration. 

Documents reviewed: Prior to evaluating Mr. White, I reviewed the following documents: 
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• People’s Opposition to Defendant White’s Motion to Sever
• Complaint: White v. City of Torrance
• Ian Jameson witness statement re: White v. City of Torrance
• Justice Story mitigation report, October 18, 2023
• Providence Hospital, Torrance, medical records beginning May 19, 2019
• White v. City of Torrance, Stipulation for Settlement
• Grand Jury transcript summaries

Mental status examination: Mr. White presented at the appointed time for the evaluation. He 
was neatly and casually dressed with appropriate grooming and hygiene. He was oriented to 
time, place, person and situation. Cognition, judgement, memory and sensorium were intact. 
There were no disturbances of speech or gait, and Mr. White denied auditory hallucinations and 
gave no indication of delusional thinking. His mood was somewhat depressive although there 
was no indication of psychomotor retardation or hopelessness consistent with Major Depressive 
Disorder. There was no acceleration or pressured speech consistent with Mania. Mr. White was 
fully cooperative and spoke spontaneously and without contrivance. He revealed information 
without regard to how it reflected upon him, disclosing negatives as well as positives. Although 
not formally assessed, Mr. White was clearly of above average intelligence. 

Although he makes an effort to hide it, Mr. White has suffered from chronic depression for most 
of his life. He reports two suicide attempts, described below, that reportedly would have 
succeeded had Mr. White not been interrupted by friends. He reports having experienced an 
unusually abusive childhood, domestic abuse in adult relationships and traumatic events, 
including domestic violence, as well as an assault by members of the Torrance Police 
Department that led to permanent partial disability as well as a financial judgment in Mr. White's 
favor.  

Mr. White is characterized by a kind of naive idealism and believes that non-violent protests in 
support of his political agenda are a significant and important activity. Mr. White's identity and 
self-description is very enmeshed in non-violence and political activism.  

Childhood and family: Mr. White was born in Culver City and raised in Van Nuys and 
Palmdale and, later, Florida and then Wichita, Kansas. Mr. White's father was in the film 
industry as a teamster, and his mother was also in the film industry in payroll and accounting. 
Mr. White has a brother and a sister, two years apart with Mr. White being the eldest.  

Mr. White describes his father as abusive throughout his childhood1. Mr. White states his father 
was a Vicodin abuser who was physically abusive until the father became sober when Mr. White 
was age 17. Mr. White states the father attempted suicide when Mr. White was age 17, was 
hospitalized at a mental health facility and then in substance abuse rehab. 

1 No professional conclusions are offered regarding any individuals who were not evaluated. All 
characterizations of Mr. White's parents and his former girlfriend, for example, derive only from Mr. 
White's reports.  
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Mr. White states that when he was age six, Mr. White was refusing to go to bed. He states his 
father grabbed his arm and threw him into a wall causing his arm to be dislocated and broken. 
The ER was told that it was an accident that occurred when they were playing. Mr. White states 
he only recalled the traumatic event later in life. 

He recalls another event when he was around age 13. He describes his father as a former football 
player. Mr. White states he was “mouthing off,” and his father threw a videocassette at him from 
across the room. Mr. White was injured, needed medical care, and still has a scar near his eye. 
Mr. White was aware on that occasion that his father had been abusive and lied to the ER staff 
about how it happened. 

Mr. White also recalls being whipped with electrical wires and belts and a wire hanger. He states 
that afterwards, his father would apologize and say he did not mean it.  

Mr. White played neighborhood baseball and football but was not on teams. He recalls having 
been an avid reader as a child.  

Mr. White states that his mother was also physically abusive and disciplined Mr. White with a 
strap. She also took some extreme actions against him for disobedience, such as cancelling a 
birthday party or cancelling a trip to Europe. Mr. White recalls at age 13, his mother backed him 
into a closet while beating him. He states that years elapsed when he did not speak to his mother 
but reports he currently has a good relationship with her.  

He reports feeling depressed as a child as a result of all the relocations the family made and 
continually having to adjust to new schools and new friends, along with the feeling that his 
parents did not take care of him. 

Education: Mr. White began school at Anatola Elementary School in Van Nuys, California for 
grades kindergarten through fourth. He next attended Cactus Elementary School in Palmdale, 
California for grades five and six. Mr. White next attended New Smyrna Middle School in New 
Smyrna Beach, Florida for grades seven and eight. Mr. White next attended Wichita Southeast 
High School for grades nine through eleven. At the end of eleventh grade, Mr. White reports that 
his father made a suicide attempt and was confined to a psychiatric ward. Mr. White and his 
sister had a fight, and his mother put Mr. White on a Greyhound Bus and sent Mr. White to live 
with his father in Culver City, California. Mr. White did not return to school. He states, “It was 
very hard to go back in and be the new kid one more time.” Mr. White states he had been in 
gifted programs throughout his school career, and had a period of regretting not completing 
school. However, he became successful and no longer worries about it. While in Florida, Mr. 
White took some courses at SUNY in archeology.  

Employment: Mr. White first worked mowing lawns and cleaning gutters in Wichita at around 
ages 13 or 14 and then began working at Arby’s at age 15 where he remained about a year. Mr. 
White next was employed at Subway for about six months. He was next employed at Quik-trip, a 
gas station, for about six months. He then moved to Culver City at age 17 and was employed at 
the Apothecary Cafe for about 1 ½ years. He then began working in construction from around 
age 19 to around age 28.  
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Mr. White next was hired in motion picture art department/set construction has been a 
production designer for the past 14 years. He reports he is doing well and is very successful. 

Mr. White states that for the past seven years, he has devoted himself to political activism, 
placing it above his regular employment in importance.  

Adult relationships: Mr. White describes himself as “queer,” although his identity appears to be 
bisexual. He is currently in a relationship with a woman, Traci, for the past 1 ½ years. 

Mr. White has never been married and has no children.  

Mr. White has reportedly been in five long-term relationships lasting a year or more. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
  

 
 

 

 
 

Mental health history: Mr. White reports he was in psychotherapy in high school and has had 
sporadic psychotherapy since then. He states he has been depressed chronically and fears being 
institutionalized. He states he had been prescribed Prozac after high school but used it “for only a 
week or two,” and stated he hated the medication. He states the medication made him feel numb 
and not like himself. He states it blunted the depression in a way “that didn’t feel healthy.” Mr. 
White states he has had suicidal ideation since age 13. He states he has not been in therapy for 
the past six months due to financial issues as fallout from the writers’ strike. 

Trauma history leading to PTSD: While doing activism for Bernie Sanders, BLM, and other 
causes, Mr. White had been arrested, e.g., for using chalk. In May of 2019, Mr. White was at a 
Town Hall in Torrance that he had reportedly attended almost every week. The mayor ordered 
the police to clear the room. Mr. White was out of the room and saw the police about to hit the 
mother of a crime victim. Mr. White states he tried to intervene and was beaten by four or five 
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police. No charges were filed, but Mr. White experienced a broken back from being hit with the 
baton.  

That beating led to PTSD flashbacks and a physical tic such that Mr. White’s head reportedly  
jerks while he is trying to fall asleep. He also experiences screaming while falling asleep and as 
he wakes up. Mr. White had also planned suicide with helium inhalation (he had rigged the 
breathing mask to be used for this) and was doing detailed planning on giving away his 
possessions. The day he was going to execute his suicide plan, his friends broke into where he 
staying in a community center and stopped him.  

In 2020, during the George Floyd protests, Mr. White travelled around the country joining 
protests. He has seen people lose eyes and get limb injuries. A friend of his lost a finger at a 
demonstration. After having his back broken by the Torrance Police and seeing these injuries at 
demonstrations, he decided to create his “suit of armor” to protect himself. He states the suit 
made him a target.  

On September 8, 2020, Mr. White reportedly had a grenade launcher pointed at his chest by the 
police.  He was demonstrating about a black man killed by the police. He was gathered on 
Normandy Avenue. After his arrest, he was shoved up against the wall, and he states the police 
were beating him. He states they cut his protective suit off of him even though they could have 
unbuckled it. He states he was held illegally on a warrant that, he states, the police knew did not 
apply to him. 

He describes a demonstration at Sunland-Tujunga on August 22, 2020 where people did what his 
sticker said and hid behind him while a police officer shot Mr. White from four feet away with a 
beanbag round. Mr. White stated he still did not move. 

The most recent arrest was December 2, 2021. He was at his home at 4:30AM, eleven months 
after the arrest in San Diego. He states about 30 police came to his home to arrest him.  

It is noted that being targeted with a grenade launcher, being shot with a beanbag round, 
observing his peers receive gruesome injuries at demonstrations, and being arrested during the 
night by 30 or so police are all circumstances that would lead to symptoms of PTSD, discussed 
below.  

Substance abuse history: Mr. White reports no history of problems with drugs or alcohol. He 
has tried a few drugs (cocaine, LSD) and occasionally uses cannabis, but does not have any 
issues with overuse. He was completely sober for three years, only because he was worried about 
his father’s history. He states he does not like to be out of control, so avoids feeling intoxicated. 
He starts that cannabis helps with his pain.  

Religious practice: Mr. White describes himself as spiritual. 

Stress reduction: Mr. White enjoys hiking, reading and playing video games and board games 
with friends. 
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Diagnosis: Based on the clinical interview, the mental status examination and the known and 
reported history, Mr. White is diagnosed as follows: 

• F43.10 (DSM-5-TR) Posttraumatic Stress Disorder
• F34.1 (DSM-5-TR) Persistent Depressive Disorder, with Anxious Distress, with Intermittent

Major Depressive Episodes
• Addition diagnosis not in the DSM: In addition, although this is not a formal diagnosis, Mr.

White suffers from a condition identified by many trauma experts as Complex PTSD, as a
result of his childhood of reported continual physical and mental abuse. The relevance of this
condition is that it would cause his symptoms of PTSD to be more severe in their expression
and more difficult to treat.

Description of PTSD: A website published by the National Institute of Mental Health 
(https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/post-traumatic-stress-disorder-ptsd/index.shtml) offers 
the following lay description of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: 

Definition 

PTSD is a disorder that develops in some people who have experienced a shocking, 
scary, or dangerous event. 

It is natural to feel afraid during and after a traumatic situation. Fear triggers many split-
second changes in the body to help defend against danger or to avoid it. This “fight-or-
flight” response is a typical reaction meant to protect a person from harm. Nearly 
everyone will experience a range of reactions after trauma, yet most people recover from 
initial symptoms naturally. Those who continue to experience problems may be 
diagnosed with PTSD. People who have PTSD may feel stressed or frightened even 
when they are not in danger. 

Signs and Symptoms 

Not every traumatized person develops ongoing (chronic) or even short-term (acute) 
PTSD. Not everyone with PTSD has been through a dangerous event. Some experiences, 
like the sudden, unexpected death of a loved one, can also cause PTSD. Symptoms 
usually begin early, within 3 months of the traumatic incident, but sometimes they begin 
years afterward. Symptoms must last more than a month and be severe enough to 
interfere with relationships or work to be considered PTSD. The course of the illness 
varies. Some people recover within 6 months, while others have symptoms that last 
much longer. In some people, the condition becomes chronic. 

A doctor who has experience helping people with mental illnesses, such as a psychiatrist 
or psychologist, can diagnose PTSD. 

To be diagnosed with PTSD, an adult must have all of the following for at least 1 month: 

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/post-traumatic-stress-disorder-ptsd/index.shtml
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• At least one re-experiencing symptom
• At least one avoidance symptom
• At least two arousal and reactivity symptoms
• At least two cognition and mood symptoms

Re-experiencing symptoms include: 

• Flashbacks—reliving the trauma over and over, including physical symptoms like a
racing heart or sweating

• Bad dreams
• Frightening thoughts

Re-experiencing symptoms may cause problems in a person’s everyday routine. The 
symptoms can start from the person’s own thoughts and feelings. Words, objects, or 
situations that are reminders of the event can also trigger re-experiencing symptoms. 

Avoidance symptoms include: 

• Staying away from places, events, or objects that are reminders of the traumatic
experience

• Avoiding thoughts or feelings related to the traumatic event
• Things that remind a person of the traumatic event can trigger avoidance symptoms

These symptoms may cause a person to change his or her personal routine. For example, 
after a bad car accident, a person who usually drives may avoid driving or riding in a car. 

Arousal and reactivity symptoms include: 

• Being easily startled
• Feeling tense or “on edge”
• Having difficulty sleeping
• Having angry outbursts

Arousal symptoms are usually constant, instead of being triggered by things that remind 
one of the traumatic events. These symptoms can make the person feel stressed and 
angry. They may make it hard to do daily tasks, such as sleeping, eating, or 
concentrating. 

Cognition and mood symptoms include: 

• Trouble remembering key features of the traumatic event
• Negative thoughts about oneself or the world
• Distorted feelings like guilt or blame
• Loss of interest in enjoyable activities
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Cognition and mood symptoms can begin or worsen after the traumatic event, but are not 
due to injury or substance use. These symptoms can make the person feel alienated or 
detached from friends or family members.  

It is natural to have some of these symptoms after a dangerous event. Sometimes people 
have very serious symptoms that go away after a few weeks. This is called acute stress 
disorder, or ASD. When the symptoms last more than a month, seriously affect one’s 
ability to function, and are not due to substance use, medical illness, or anything except 
the event itself, they might be PTSD. Some people with PTSD don’t show any symptoms 
for weeks or months. PTSD is often accompanied by depression, substance abuse, or one 
or more of the other anxiety disorders. 

Description of Persistent Depressive Disorder: The following webpage, published by the 
Mayo Clinic (https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/persistent-depressive-
disorder/symptoms-causes/syc-20350929) provides a lay description of this disorder: 

Overview 
Persistent depressive disorder, also called dysthymia (dis-THIE-me-uh), is a continuous 
long-term (chronic) form of depression. You may lose interest in normal daily activities, 
feel hopeless, lack productivity, and have low self-esteem and an overall feeling of 
inadequacy. These feelings last for years and may significantly interfere with your 
relationships, school, work and daily activities. 

If you have persistent depressive disorder, you may find it hard to be upbeat even on 
happy occasions — you may be described as having a gloomy personality, constantly 
complaining or incapable of having fun. Though persistent depressive disorder is not as 
severe as major depression, your current depressed mood may be mild, moderate or 
severe. 

Because of the chronic nature of persistent depressive disorder, coping with depression 
symptoms can be challenging, but a combination of talk therapy (psychotherapy) and 
medication can be effective in treating this condition. 

Symptoms 
Persistent depressive disorder symptoms usually come and go over a period of years, and 
their intensity can change over time. But typically symptoms don't disappear for more 
than two months at a time. In addition, major depression episodes may occur before or 
during persistent depressive disorder — this is sometimes called double depression. 

Symptoms of persistent depressive disorder can cause significant impairment and may 
include: 
• Loss of interest in daily activities
• Sadness, emptiness or feeling down
• Hopelessness
• Tiredness and lack of energy
• Low self-esteem, self-criticism or feeling incapable

https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/persistent-depressive-disorder/symptoms-causes/syc-20350929
https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/persistent-depressive-disorder/symptoms-causes/syc-20350929
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• Trouble concentrating and trouble making decisions
• Irritability or excessive anger
• Decreased activity, effectiveness and productivity
• Avoidance of social activities
• Feelings of guilt and worries over the past
• Poor appetite or overeating
• Sleep problems

In children, symptoms of persistent depressive disorder may include depressed mood and
irritability.

When to see a doctor 
Because these feelings have gone on for such a long time, you may think they'll always 
be part of your life. But if you have any symptoms of persistent depressive disorder, seek 
medical help. 
Talk to your primary care doctor about your symptoms. Or seek help directly from a 
mental health provider. If you're reluctant to see a mental health professional, reach out 
to someone else who may be able to help guide you to treatment, whether it's a friend or 
loved one, a teacher, a faith leader, or someone else you trust. 
If you think you may hurt yourself or attempt suicide, call 911 or your local emergency 
number immediately. 

Re-experiencing as a PTSD symptom: Re-experiencing of the trauma, often termed 
“flashbacks,” can cause the individual to lose track of the current situation and experience it as if 
it were the previous traumatic situation. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the American 
Psychiatric Association describes it as follows: 

“Dissociative reactions (e.g., flashbacks) in which the individual feels or acts as if the 
traumatic event(s) were recurring. (Such reactions may occur on a continuum, with the 
most extreme expression being a complete loss of awareness of present surroundings.)” 
[emphasis added] 

Excerpt From 
Desk Reference to the Diagnostic Criteria From DSM-5-TR
American Psychiatric Association 
This material may be protected by copyright. 

Suit of armor/bear spray/ and PTSD: Mr. White states he built the “suit of armor” about year 
following the back injury caused by the Torrance police, which, in turn was part of the cause of 
his PTSD. Mr. White then went to demonstrations as a medic. His intention was self-defense, 
community defense and deterrence of violence.  He states he was there to protect others. The suit 
was designed to protect Mr. White and included a helmet and breathing apparatus. 

In my professional opinion, the “suit of armor,” Mr. White's carrying bear spray, as well as Mr. 
White's role of protecting others as a medic was a manifestation of Mr. White's PTSD. He fully 
expected to be re-traumatized and to see others re-traumatized, even if his goal was to 
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demonstrate peacefully. This suit, helmet and breathing apparatus were expressions of Mr. 
White's fear of being violently attacked, as he had been in the past. He was re-experiencing 
trauma, even before any violence occurred. Mr. White hoped that the suit and the bear spray 
would protect him from the trauma that he feared, expected, and re-experienced, all due to his 
condition of PTSD. Further, as a result of his PTSD, he expected others to be attacked or even 
shot. For that reason, his helmet includes a sticker on the back that states, “If the shooting starts, 
stand behind me.” Mr. White's self-appointed mission to protect others was the result of his 
PTSD. 

Because of Mr. White's condition of PTSD, he was unable to distinguish between the current 
circumstances that led to his arrest, and prior episodes of violence that were associated with the 
genesis of his PTSD. He reacted based on PTSD re-experiencing and was unable, due to his 
mental illness, to distinguish between the actual events on the day of this arrest and past events. 
PTSD fully accounts for Mr. White's alleged criminal behavior.  

Specific statements regarding mental health diversion under Penal Code 1001.36: 

1. Mental health disorder: Mr. White has been diagnosed with the DSM-5 diagnosis of
F43.10 at the time of the alleged crime and, currently, with the same disorder: Posttraumatic
Stress Disorder. Mr. White suffered from this condition at the time of the commission of the
alleged crimes.

2. Contribution: The mental health disorder of F43.10 significantly contributed and, in fact,
fully accounts for the defendant’s role in the charged offense.

3. Risk: I find Mr. White not to be at risk to commit a super strike offense or any unlawful act
should his condition of F43.10 be effectively treated and stabilized.

4. Treatment program: Mr. White requires ongoing psychotherapy for PTSD and depression.
Such treatment will prevent a recurrence of the charged crimes. With resolution of his PTSD,
Mr. White would be able to approach a peaceful demonstration without the expectation of
violence occurring and without taking actions, whether intentional or inadvertent, to
precipitate violence. Such psychotherapy should include such methods as EMDR or other
methods approved by the Veterans Administration for treatment of PTSD. In addition, Mr.
White should consult with a psychiatrist (not only a primary care physician) and consider
specific medication that has been found effective for PTSD.

Findings on Potential Incarceration: Mr. White suffers from two serious mental health 
conditions as described above. Incarceration for him would be extremely dangerous to his well 
being, as he has already made two suicide attempts and has limited coping skills that might 
enable another individual to adjust to imprisonment. I consider any imprisonment to be life 
threatening to this man with a history of childhood abuse, adult PTSD, domestic abuse and 
serious depression. Should a sentence be necessary, I recommend that it involve alternatives to 
incarceration.  

I am prepared to testify under oath regarding the above professional conclusions. 

I declare the above to be true under penalty of perjury according to California law. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

Martin H. Williams, Ph.D. 



EXHIBIT F



Initial Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

1 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. gathered black clothing, a tactical vest, 
goggles, a black mask, gloves, and armed himself with a tear gas weapon. 

2 On or about January 9, 2021, Christian Martinez gathered black clothing, a black helmet, and 
armed himself with a tear gas weapon. 

3 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab gathered black clothing, and a face mask. 
4 On or about January 9, 2021, Bryan Rivera gathered black clothing, a black helmet, goggles, and 

wrapped his wrist with pink boxing tape. 
5 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora gathered black clothing, a black mask, and 

armed himself with a tear gas weapon. 
6 On or about January 9, 2021, prior to arriving in Pacific Beach, Luis Francisco Mora stopped at 

Big 5 Sporting Goods in Long Beach, California, and purchased an 8-ball brand skating helmet 
and goggles. 

7 On or about January 9, 2021, prior to arriving in Pacific Beach, Faraz Martin Talab stopped at 
Big 5 Sporting Goods in Long Beach, California, and purchased four canisters of a tear gas 
weapon by brand “Sabre Running Gel.” 

8 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian Martinez, Luis Francisco 
Mora, Faraz Martin Talab, and Bryan Rivera discussed traveling to Pacific Beach. 

9 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian Martinez, Luis Francisco 
Mora, Faraz Martin Talab, and Bryan Rivera traveled from Los Angeles County and arrived in 
Pacific Beach as previously discussed. 

10 On or about January 9, 2021, Jeremy Jonathan White gathered black clothing, a gas mask, a 
tactical helmet, a tactical vest, gloves, and armed himself with a tear gas weapon. 

11 On or about January 9, 2021, Jeremy Jonathan White traveled to Pacific Beach. 
12 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon gathered black clothing, gloves, and a mask. 
13 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs gathered a black long sleeve top, a shiny 

mask, and a black backpack. 
14 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach gathered black jeans, a black shirt with the 

sleeves cut off, a red flannel jacket with patches, and armed himself with a tear gas weapon. 
15 On or about January 9, 2021, Joseph Austin Gaskins gathered black clothing, a gas mask, and a 

skateboard. 
16 On or about January 9, 2021, Samuel Howard Ogden gathered black clothing, a tactical helmet, a 

black mask, and armed himself with a wooden walking stick. 
17 Uncharged coconspirator Jonah Bigel gathered black clothing, a mask, and armed himself with a 

baseball bat with the Twisted Tea logo. 
18 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Jesse Merel Cannon, Joseph Austin 

Gaskins, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian Martinez, Luis Francisco Mora, Samuel Howard 
Ogden, Bryan Rivera, Faraz Martin Talab, Jeremy Jonathan White, Erich Louis Yach, uncharged 
Coconspirator Jonah Bigel, and or one or more unidentified coconspirators gathered near 1001 
Missouri Street in Pacific Beach. 
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Incident One Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

19 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. initiated an attack by spraying victim 
S.G., victim H.T., victim A.F, and unidentified victim one with a tear gas weapon.

20 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora sprayed unidentified victim one with a tear gas 
weapon. 

21 On or about January 9, 2021, Christian Martinez sprayed unidentified victim one with a tear gas 
weapon. 

22 On or about January 9, 2021, Samuel Howard Ogden initiated an attack on victim S.G. 
23 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Jesse Merel Cannon, Samuel Howard 

Ogden, Bryan Rivera, Erich Louis Yach, and other unidentified coconspirators participated in a 
group attack on victim S.G. 

24 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Jesse Merel Cannon, Luis Francisco 
Mora, Samuel Howard Ogden, Bryan Rivera, Erich Louis Yach, and other unidentified 
coconspirators participated in a group attack on S.M./unidentified victim two. 

25 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Luis Francisco Mora, Bryan Rivera, 
Faraz Martin Talab, Erich Louis Yach, and other unidentified coconspirators participated in a 
group attack on victim E.H. 

26 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach kicked S.M./unidentified victim two while 
S.M./unidentified victim two was on the ground.

27 On or about January 9, 2021, Bryan Rivera punched S.M./unidentified victim two while 
S.M./unidentified victim two was on the ground.

28 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach sprayed S.M./unidentified victim two with a tear 
gas weapon. 

29 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach sprayed victim E.H. with a tear gas weapon. 
30 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora sprayed unidentified victim E.H. with a tear 

gas weapon. 



Incident Two Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

31 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora and other unidentified coconspirators 
confronted unidentified victim three as he walked his dog down the boardwalk. 

32 On or about January 9, 2021, Jeremy Jonathan White sprayed unidentified victim three and his 
dog with a tear gas weapon. 
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Incident Three Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

33 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Jesse Merel Cannon, Joseph Austin 
Gaskins, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian Martinez, Luis Francisco Mora, Samuel Howard 
Ogden, Bryan Rivera, Faraz Martin Talab, Jeremy Jonathan White, Erich Louis Yach, uncharged 
coconspirator Jonah Bigel and other unidentified coconspirators traveled up the board walk while 
some members of the group chanted Antifa related slogans, including but not limited to “ALL 
COPS ARE BASTARDS” and “ACAB.” 

34 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab confronted victim J.C. for using his cell phone 
to film. 

35 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab slapped at victim J.C.’s phone. 
36 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab brandished a tear gas weapon against victim 

J.C.
37 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab slapped victim J.C.’s phone out of his hand. 
38 On or about January 9, 2021, Jeremy Jonathan White confronted victim J.C. 
39 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab, Luis Francisco Mora, Jeremy Jonathan White, 

Erich Louis Yach, and other unidentified coconspirators surrounded victim J.C. 
40 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator grabbed victim J.C.’s phone out of his 

hands. 
41 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora attempted to punch victim J.C. 
42 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator sprayed victim J.C. with a tear gas 

weapon. 
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Incident Four Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

43 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon photographed victim M.A., victim T.G., 
unidentified victim four, and unidentified victim five. 

44 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon pointed out victims M. A., T.G., unidentified 
victim four, and unidentified victim five to the other coconspirators. 

45 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Jesse Merel Cannon, Brian Cortez 
Lightfoot Jr., Luis Francisco Mora, Samuel Howard Ogden, Bryan Rivera, Faraz Martin Talab, 
uncharged coconspirator Jonah Bigel, and other unidentified coconspirators surrounded victims 
M.A., T.G., unidentified victim four, and unidentified victim five.

46 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon initiated an attack by yelling “Proud Boy 
Killa.” 

47 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. sprayed victims M.A., T.G., unidentified 
victim four, and unidentified victim five with a tear gas weapon. 

48 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator sprayed victim T.G. in the face with a 
tear gas weapon. 

49 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. shoved victim T.G. in the back. 
50 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon threw a wooden lawn chair at victim M.A.’s 

head and shoulders, striking victim M.A. 
51 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora sprayed victim M.A. in the face with a tear gas 

weapon. 
52 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. shoved victim M.A. to the ground. 
53 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. attempted to kick victim M.A. while she 

was on the ground. 
54 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator struck victim M.A. with a flagpole. 
55 On or about January 9, 2021, Samuel Howard Ogden brandished a walking stick at victim M.A. 
56 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator threw a Twisted Tea can at victims 

T.G. and unidentified victim four. 
57 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator threw a glass beer bottle at victims 

T.G. and unidentified victim four. 
58 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon threw a glass beer bottle at unidentified victim 

four. 
59 On or about January 9, 2021, uncharged coconspirator Jonah Bigel struck victim T.G. with a 

baseball bat with the Twisted Tea logo. 
60 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs threw a can of Twisted Tea into 

unidentified victim four’s back. 
61 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon threw a can of Twisted Tea toward victims 

M.A. and T.G.
62 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. swung a closed fist toward victim four’s 

head. 
63 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator threw several punches into 

unidentified victim four’s head. 
64 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. kicked unidentified victim four. 
65 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. kicked unidentified victim five. 
66 On or about January 9, 2021, after assaulting victims M.A., T.G., unidentified victim four, and 

unidentified victim five, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Bryan Rivera, and other unknown co-
conspirators chased victims M.A., T.G., unidentified victim four, and unidentified victim five on 
foot. 



Incident Five Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

67 On or about January 9, 2021, Jeremy Jonathan White pointed out victim R.L. to the other 
coconspirators. 

68 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon initiated the attack by shoving victim R.L. from 
his bicycle to the ground. 

69 On or about January 9, 2021, Jesse Merel Cannon, Faraz Martin Talab, Samuel Howard Ogden, 
Jeremy Jonathan White, Erich Louis Yach, and several unidentified coconspirators moved to 
surround victim R.L. 

70 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator kicked victim R.L. while on the 
ground. 

71 On or about January 9, 2021, uncharged coconspirator Fadhil A. swung his skateboard at victim 
J.C.

72 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach assaulted victim R.L. with a stun gun. 
73 On or about January 9, 2021, unidentified coconspirators vandalized victim R.L.’s bike. 
74 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach used a tear gas weapon against victims R.L. and 

J.C.
75 On or about January 9, 2021, Samuel Howard Ogden handed off his walking stick to Brian Cortez 

Lightfoot Jr.. 
76 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. struck victim J.C. across the back with 

the walking stick. 
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Incident Six Overt Act 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

77 On or about January 9, 2021, uncharged coconspirator Jonah Bigel used a baseball bat with the 
Twisted Tea logo to vandalize the Skechers store front window. 



Incident Seven Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

78 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Jesse Merel Cannon, Joseph Austin 
Gaskins, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian Martinez, Luis Francisco Mora, Samuel Howard 
Ogden, Bryan Rivera, Faraz Martin Talab, Jeremy Jonathan White, Erich Louis Yach, uncharged 
coconspirator Jonah Bigel, and/or one or more other unidentified coconspirators refused to 
disperse after the San Diego Police Department declared an unlawful assembly. 

79 On or about January 9, 2021, Joseph Austin Gaskins threw objects at police officers. 
80 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. threw objects at police officers. 
81 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator threw a glass beer bottle at police 

officers. 
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Incident Eight Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

82 On or about January 9, 2021, Alexander Akridgejacobs, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Luis 
Francisco Mora, Christian Martinez, and other unidentified coconspirators moved to surround 
victim N.K. 

83 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator used her umbrella to block victim 
N.K.’s escape and to obstruct observations of the attack.

84 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr. sprayed victim N.K. with a tear gas 
weapon. 

85 On or about January 9, 2021, after the assault on victim N.K., Alexander Akridgejacobs, Brian 
Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian, Martinez, Luis Francisco Mora, and other unidentified 
coconspirators chased victim N.K. up the street. 



Incident Nine Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

86 On or about January 9, 2021, Brian Cortez Lightfoot Jr., Christian Martinez, Faraz Martin 
Talab, and several other unidentified coconspirators surrounded unidentified victim six while 
he was on the ground. 

87 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator kicked unidentified victim six in the 
ribs while he was on the ground. 

88 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab rushed forward and grabbed unidentified 
victim seven to prevent him from helping unidentified victim six who was on the ground. 

89 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab and unidentified coconspirators chased 
unidentified victim seven. 

90 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator punched unidentified victim seven 
in the back of the head. 

91 On or about January 9, 2021, unidentified coconspirators threw unidentified victim seven to the 
ground. 

92 On or about January 9, 2021, Joseph Austin Gaskins struck unidentified victim seven in the 
head with a skateboard while unidentified victim seven was on the ground. 

93 On or about January 9, 2021, Christian Martinez threw a can of Twisted Tea at unidentified 
victim six while he was on the ground. 



Incident Ten Overt Acts 
Over Act 
Number 

Overt Act 

94 On or about January 9, 2021, Jeremy Jonathan White sprayed an unidentified victim eight with a 
tear gas weapon. 

95 On or about January 9, 2021, Samuel Howard Ogden physically confronted a police officer who 
was attempting to make an arrest of an unidentified female coconspirator. 

96 On or about January 9, 2021, an unidentified coconspirator sprayed police officers with a tear gas 
weapon. 

97 On or about January 9, 2021, unidentified coconspirators grabbed an unidentified male 
coconspirator from police officers who were attempting to arrest the unidentified male 
coconspirator. 

98 On or about January 9, 2021, Erich Louis Yach and other unidentified conspirators surrounded 
the unidentified male coconspirator to conceal his identity and prevent his arrest. 

99 On or about January 9, 2021, unidentified conspirators provided a change of clothing to the 
unidentified male coconspirator. 

100 On or about January 9, 2021, the unidentified male coconspirator changed his clothing and 
successfully avoided arrest. 

curtb
Highlight



Incident Eleven Overt Acts 
Over 
Act 

Number 

Overt Act 

101 On or about January 9, 2021, Christian Martinez, Faraz Martin Talab, Luis Francisco Mora, and 
Bryan Rivera confronted victim C.B. 

102 On or about January 9, 2021, Faraz Martin Talab initiated a physical confrontation by swiping at 
victim C.B. 

103 On or about January 9, 2021, Bryan Rivera grabbed victim C.B. and delivered a knee strike. 
104 On or about January 9, 2021, Luis Francisco Mora struck victim C.B. in the face with his hand. 
105 On or about January 9, 2021, Christian Martinez sprayed victim C.B. with a tear gas weapon. 
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